SEP 1 0 2018

Case No. S248726

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Deputy

DEV ANAND OMAN; TODD EICHMANN; MICHAEL LEHR; ALBERT FLORES, individually, on behalf of others similarly situated, and on behalf of the general public,

\*Plaintiffs/Petitioners\*,

٧.

## DELTA AIR LINES, INC., Defendant/Respondent.

On Grant of Request to Decide Certified Questions from the United States
Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Pursuant to California Rules of
Court, Rule 8.548
Ninth Circuit No. 17-15124

#### PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

This Court has accepted certification of three questions regarding the scope of California's most fundamental wage-protection laws: 8 Cal. Code Regs. § 11090(4), which requires "[e]very employer" to pay the minimum wage "to each employee" "for all hours worked"; Labor Code section 204, which requires that all wages be timely paid; and Labor Code section 226, which requires accurate and complete wage statements documenting all hours worked and all pay provided.

As framed by the Ninth Circuit and this Court's order accepting certification, the three certified questions are:

- 1) Do California Labor Code sections 204 and 226 apply to wage payments and wage statements provided by an out-of-state employer to an employee who, in the relevant pay period, works in California only episodically and for less than a day at a time?
- 2) Does California minimum wage law apply to all work performed in California for an out-of-state employer by an employee who works in California only episodically and for less than a day at a time? (*See* Cal. Labor Code, §§ 1182.12, 1194; [8] Cal. Code Regs., § 11090(4).)
- 3) Does the *Armenta/Gonzalez* bar on averaging wages apply to a pay formula that generally awards credit for all hours on duty, but which, in certain situations resulting in higher pay, does not award credit for all hours on duty? (*See Gonzalez v. Downtown LA Motors, LP* (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 36; *Armenta v. Osmose, Inc.* (2005) 135 Cal.App.4th 314.)

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This is a putative class action brought by four flight attendants employed by Delta Air Lines, Inc. ("Delta"), each of whom regularly performed pre-flight and post-flight work on the ground in California.

Plaintiffs allege that Delta failed to pay them for that on-the-ground work, failed to pay them in timely fashion for that work, and failed to provide California-compliant wage statements for that work. The district court rejected Plaintiffs' claims in two summary judgment orders. The first order held that California law permitted Delta to pay flight attendants for their flight time only, with no separate payment for their California pre-flight or post-flight time, because those flight attendants' *average* hourly rate for *all* hours worked was higher than California's minimum wage. Excerpts of Record ("ER") 19-36. The second order, which preceded *Troester v*. *Starbucks* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 829 [235 Cal.Rptr.3d 820], rejected Plaintiffs' other claims on the ground that California labor law does not apply to the four plaintiffs because they worked only a "*de minimis* amount of time in California." ER 16.

The overarching question is whether California's labor law protects employees who work on a regular basis *in California*, at their employer's direction, for less than a full day at a time. The answer is yes, under the plain language of the Labor Code and the governing Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") Wage Order.

There are no issues of extraterritoriality in this case. The question is *not* whether (or the extent to which) California's worker-protection laws extend beyond the state's boundaries. Instead, the issue is whether employers that regularly schedule employees to work *in California* must comply with California's non-waivable Labor Code and Wage Order provisions with respect to that *in-state* work.

Delta's payment scheme violates California law with respect to Plaintiff flight attendants' on-the-ground work in California. California requires employers (1) to pay at least the minimum wage for all time they suffer or permit their employees to work in the state, (2) to make timely wage payments for that time, and (3) to provide complete and accurate wage statements encompassing that time. Delta's defenses that its pay scheme results in an average hourly wage that exceeds the California minimum and that compliance with California law would be unduly burdensome have no legal basis and cannot excuse Delta's deliberate policy of not paying its flight attendants for the on-the-ground work it routinely requires them to perform in California.

#### STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

### I. Plaintiffs Presented Evidence That Delta Failed to Pay Wages for All Hours Worked in California

Plaintiffs Oman, Eichmann, Lehr, and Flores are current and former flight attendants employed by Delta. ER 10. They regularly fly (or flew) in and out of California airports, collectively working hundreds of pre-flight and post-flight hours on the ground at California airports. ER 807-978, 1256-1355. That California work was almost entirely unpaid and is the subject of this litigation.

Delta, while headquartered in Georgia, assigns flight attendants (including Plaintiffs Lehr, Eichmann and Flores) to be based at the San Francisco ("SFO") and Los Angeles ("LAX") airports. From 2011 through 2015, Delta employed more than 1,400 such California-based flight attendants. ER 1126-27. Delta's business model also requires it to schedule out-of-state-based flight attendants (like Plaintiff Oman) to fly into and out of California airports. ER 1141-44. In April 2015, for example, Delta's out-of-state-based flight attendants flew more than 24,400 flights in or out of California. *Id*.

The California market is critically important to Delta. Its JFK-LAX and JFK-SFO routes are "two of the busiest routes in the United States," and Delta prides itself on its "leading position" in the industry on these routes, offering "the most seats of any airline." ER 1115-16. Delta's recent \$229,000,000 facilities investment at LAX and a new Delta Sky Club at SFO further evidence the importance of these in-state locations. *Id*.

#### A. Plaintiffs' Work Schedules

Delta flight attendants work a series of "rotations" throughout the month. "A rotation is a preplanned sequence of flights that a flight attendant is expected [to work]." ER 1165. Each rotation is made up of one or more "duty periods," which are treated like work days. ER 1166. A duty period consists of one or more flights. ER 1167, 70. Thus, one or more flights make up a duty period, and one or more duty periods make up a rotation. Time between two flights within the same duty period is referred to as "turn time." ER 1170. Flight attendants bid for work schedules based on a bid packet specific to their base airport. Supplemental Excerpts of Record ("SER") 442-43, 474. Each rotation generally begins and ends at the flight attendant's base airport. See ER 807-978.

Delta admits that its flight attendants are "on duty" for the duration of each "duty period." ER 1170-72. Delta requires its flight attendants to report for duty at least an hour before scheduled departure for domestic flights, and up to an hour and a half before scheduled departure for international flights. ER 726, 1175. After a preflight briefing and other work activities, flight attendants proceed to the gate for their flight. ER 702, 1181-87. Flight attendants must be at the gate at least 40 minutes before departure and must perform additional tasks before boarding begins.

ER 702-03, 726. Boarding begins at least 35 minutes before departure. ER 726.

Flight attendants also have work responsibilities after the plane lands, including deplaning passengers and performing safety checks. ER 706-07. They must remain on board until all passengers have deplaned, unless required to leave the plane to perform a safety-related duty. ER 1194. Not until the flight attendants complete their final flight in a duty period are they released for layover (mid-rotation) or home (at the end of a rotation).

#### B. Delta Paid Plaintiffs under Uniform Work Rules

Delta's flight attendant compensation policies are set forth in written Work Rules. ER 315-688. These Work Rules have been modified multiple times over the past several years. New versions are published periodically, and each page shows the date it was last modified. ER 1163.

#### 1. Delta Paid Plaintiffs Almost Exclusively under its Flight Pay Formula, Which Does Not Pay for All Hours Worked

Delta compensates all flight attendants based on an hourly "Flight Pay" rate, ER 366, 607, 650, using a formula that compensates them at that "hourly rate for all hours *flown or credited*"—not for all hours worked during a duty period. ER 363, 604, 647, 686 (emphasis added).

Delta's "Flight Pay" formula is based on the flight attendants' scheduled (or if longer, actual) flight time, measured from the time a flight "blocks out" from the gate for departure until it "blocks in" at the arrival gate. ER 366, 1167-68, 1200. To calculate pay under the Flight Pay formula, Delta multiplies the number of block time hours by the flight attendant's hourly Flight Pay rate. ER 363, 366. That Flight Pay formula

does *not* include any time before block-out or after block-in, i.e., pre-flight or post-flight on-the-ground time, whether in California or elsewhere. ER 1200. Accordingly, the Flight Pay formula does not pay flight attendants for the one hour (or more) of work from reporting time to departure time (including boarding), or for any turn time or post-flight deplaning time.

Delta designs its route pairings to maximize the number of rotations paid under the Flight Pay formula, and thus to minimize the amount of additional compensation it must pay under its supplemental pay formulas (described below). ER 411, 1210. Delta's flight records confirm this practice. ER 807-978, 1256-1355.<sup>1</sup>

For example, Plaintiff Lehr worked 681 flights into or out of California between January 1, 2011 and May 1, 2015. ER 864-978, 1305-43. Delta paid him solely under the Flight Pay formula on 579 of those flights, meaning that on 85% percent of Lehr's California flights, he received Flight Pay only and was not paid for any of his on-the-ground work. *Id.* Plaintiff Eichmann worked 178 flights into or out of California in the same period and was paid only Flight Pay on 149, or 84% of his California flights. ER 807-62, 1278-94. Plaintiff Oman worked at least 27 flights into or out of California between November 24, 2011 and August 8, 2014 and received only Flight Pay on 23, or 93% of his California flights. ER 780-805, 1262-66.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In Delta's flight records, any pay that supplements Flight Pay is shown in the "Duty Cred" or "THC Total" columns. The vast majority of the flights show zero in these columns, meaning the flight attendant received Flight Pay only. ER 807-978.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Flores was added as a plaintiff after the trial court granted summary judgment on Plaintiffs' minimum wage claim. Because Delta did not

#### 2. Delta's Oher Compensation Formulas, When Triggered, Provide Additional Pay for Some, but Not All, Hours Worked

Before Delta calculates the final pay for a rotation, it compares the pay due under the Flight Pay formula to the amount that would be due under three supplemental pay formulas: Minimum Duty Period Credit/Average; Trip Credit; and 1-for-2 Credit. ER 363. These supplemental formulas sometimes provide additional pay for some (but not all) hours worked, although Delta only relies on the 1-for-2 Credit as a defense to minimum-wage liability in this case.<sup>3</sup>

Delta's 1-for-2 Credit provides flight attendants with one hour of pay for every two hours on duty, but it only applies to duty periods where the standard Flight Pay formula (hourly rate multiplied by block time) would provide less than one hour's pay for every two hours worked. ER 363, 367, 608, 652, 683. That rarely happens, because in the overwhelming majority of duty periods, the flight attendants' total block time (gate-to-gate) is more than half their total on-duty time. *See* ER 807-978, 1278-1343. In those unusual circumstances where its 1-for-2 Credit applies, Delta pays its flight attendants at their usual hourly rate, but only for half of their total on-duty hours. *See* ER 367 (example from Work Rules).<sup>4</sup>

produce his records before the motion was filed, Flores is not included in this factual summary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Delta's Minimum Duty Period Credit/Average formula pays a minimum of 4 hours 45 minutes at the flight attendant's Flight Pay rate for each duty period in a rotation. ER 368, 1200-01. (Previous versions took the entire rotation into account. ER 609, 683, 1205.) Delta's Trip Credit formula pays "one hour [at the Flight Pay rate] for every 3.5 hours" of time "[f]rom the first report of the rotation until the last release of the full rotation." ER 369, 1201-02.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Delta's corporate designee confirmed that, when triggered, the 1-for-2 Credit is calculated by adding one hour of pay for every two hours worked:

## 3. Delta's Application of the Flight Pay Formula Inevitably Results in Uncompensated Work in California

Delta's Flight Pay formula compensates flight attendants for their actual or scheduled flight time, not their mandatory on-the-ground time before take-off or after landing. ER 363, 366, 1167-68, 1200. As the Ninth Circuit recognized, "the Flight Pay calculation provides credit only for hours flown or scheduled to be flown, not for hours preparing the airplane for passengers...." *Oman v. Delta Air Lines, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2018) 889 F.3d 1075, 1078.

Delta's flight records confirm this practice. For example, on June 21, 2014, Plaintiff Lehr flew from San Francisco to Atlanta and back. Delta's flight records reflect the times of these flights as measured to determine compensation:

DATE	SEGME	ENT	REPT	BLOCK	BLOCK	ACTL	SCHD/MKT	DUTY	THC/	HOLD
	FROM	TO	TIME	OUT	IN	TIME	TIME	CRED	TOTAL	TIME
21JUN	SFO	ATL	0620	0721	1511	0450*	0445	0000	0000	0000
21JUN	ATL	SFO		1757	2024	0527*	0516	0000	0000	0000
									1017	

Q: And then what is the 1 for 2 Duty Period Credit? [objection omitted]

A: . . . For every two hours on duty, one hour will be credited and paid at the flight pay rate.

ER 1201 (emphasis added). Although that designee later tried to change his testimony to assert that the 1-for-2 Credit instead paid for *all* hours worked at *half* the flight pay rate, ER 1211, when pressed for support he conceded that nothing in the Work Rules supports that characterization:

Q. Can you show me where in the flight attendant work rules there is a reference to flight attendants being paid at half their flight pay rate?

A. There is no specific reference.

ER 1211-12 (emphasis added).

ER 953.<sup>5</sup> As shown in this table, Lehr reported for duty at (or before) 6:20. His duty period ended at 20:39 (after he completed his post-flight duties, 15 minutes after the return flight blocked in). His total duty period was therefore 14 hours 19 minutes. His flight time, however, was only 10 hours 17 minutes (4 hours 50 minutes from SFO to ATL, and 5 hours 27 minutes from ATL back to SFO).

On this day, like most days, Lehr did not receive additional credits, meaning he was paid under Delta's Flight Pay formula, with no supplemental pay. Delta calculated his pay by multiplying his Flight Pay rate by his block time of 10 hours 17 minutes.<sup>6</sup> The pay rate for his hour of *pre-flight* work at SFO between 6:20 and 7:21 was therefore \$0, and his pay rate for the time spent deplaning passengers at SFO at the end of the day was also \$0. His duty period can be summarized as follows:

Time Period	Total Time	Pay Rate	California Minimum Wage Not Paid for Hours Worked
Pre-Flight	1:01	\$0/ hour	\$9.15
Flight from SFO – ATL	4:50	\$51.46/ hour	-
Turn time in ATL	2:46	\$0/ hour	-
Flight from ATL – SFO	5:27	\$51.46/ hour	-
Post-Flight	0:15	\$0/ hour	\$2.25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> All times are local to the arrival or departure airport. Thus, the elapsed time from Lehr's 7:21 departure to his 15:11 arrival includes the three-hour time change between San Francisco and Atlanta.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> ER 955 ("Follow these steps to calculate what you were paid for the pay period: Example 71:39. Take minutes flown and divide by 60. For example, 39 minutes/60 minutes=.65 (fraction). Converted time=71.64. Next take the converted time multiplied by your pay rate for total dollars paid.  $71.65 \times 45.75 \text{ hr.} = 3,277.99.$ ").

The record contains many similar examples:

- On May 20, 2012, Lehr reported to SFO by 6:25, departed for Atlanta at 7:23, landed at 15:05, and was paid only for his 4 hours 42 minutes of flight time despite working 5 hours 40 minutes from report to landing. ER 897. He was not paid for any of his 58 minutes of pre-flight work at SFO.<sup>7</sup>
- On June 17, 2014, Eichmann flew from LAX to Salt Lake City. ER 832. He reported to LAX by 5:00, departed at 6:06, and arrived in Salt Lake at 8:58. *Id.* He was paid only for his 1 hour 52 minutes of flight time despite working 2 hours 58 minutes from report to landing. *Id.* He was not paid for his one hour six minutes of preflight work at LAX.
- On February 15, 2014, Oman flew from LAX to JFK. ER 794. He reported to LAX by 5:45, departed for JFK at 7:34, and arrived at 16:02. *Id.* He was paid only for his 5 hours 28 minute of flight time, despite working 7 hours 32 minutes from report through deplaning. *Id.* He was not paid for his one hour sixteen minutes of pre-flight work at LAX.
- Oman worked a similar schedule on February 17, 2014. ER 794. He reported to LAX by 5:45, departed for JFK at 6:46, and arrived at 15:27. *Id.* He was paid only for his 5 hours 41 minutes of flight time, despite working 6 hours 57 minutes from report through deplaning. *Id.* He was not paid for his one hour one minute of preflight work at LAX.

In each example, Delta paid Plaintiffs based only on the Flight Pay formula for their entire rotation, meaning it did not pay any additional credits.

The final two examples, showing Oman's LAX–JFK flights, are particularly instructive. Oman flew the same route, with the same flight number, two days apart. ER 794. On February 17, he worked 6 hours 57 minutes (5:45 report time until 15:42, which is 15 minutes after block-in) and was paid his hourly Flight Pay rate for 5 hours 41 minutes. *Id.* Only two days earlier, he worked 35 minutes *longer* due to a delayed departure but was paid (again, at his hourly Flight Pay rate) 13 minutes *less* because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In these examples, Plaintiffs also worked uncompensated time at the destination airport after landing and sometimes continued onto other flights. However, these destinations were outside California, and Plaintiffs do not seek payment for any of the time they worked outside the state.

the plane flew more quickly in the air. *Id.* Because Delta only paid Oman for his time in the air and not for his time on the ground, his extra 35 minutes of work on February 15 did not result in any extra pay—in fact, he received less pay.

Similar examples abound. Lehr worked more than 448 uncompensated on-the-ground hours in California between January 2011 and May 1, 2015—the equivalent of 56 full work days. ER 1305-43. Eichmann worked more than 129 uncompensated on-the-ground hours in California between 2011 and May 1, 2015. ER 1278-94. Oman worked more than 20 uncompensated on-the-ground hours in California between January 2011 and August 2014. ER 1262-66. Because Eichmann, Lehr, and Flores still work for Delta, they continue to work uncompensated on-the-ground hours in California. ER 214-19.

# II. Plaintiffs Presented Evidence That Delta Failed to Provide Flight Attendants Who Worked in California with Wage Statements That Reflect Rates of Pay and Hours Worked

Although Delta routinely issues wage statements to its flight attendants, those wage statements do not comply with California law because they do not list the total number of hours worked in a pay period and do not list the applicable pay rates. ER 126-47, 195-99, 203, 208-10; see Lab. Code § 226. The "hours" and "rate" columns on the wage statements are empty. ER 126-47.8 Instead of the required itemization of rates of pay and hours worked at each pay rate, Delta's wage statements list lump sum payments only. *Id*.

Delta admits that its flight attendants cannot determine their number

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This was not always the case. In 2012, Delta reported some hours and rate information on its paystubs. ER 149.

of hours worked, rates of pay, or hours worked at each rate of pay from the face of its wage statements. ER 197-99, 203, 208-10. Delta knows that its wage statements lack this information and intends that result. ER 199, 202-03, 206-07. Delta's failure to provide itemized wage statements is especially significant in this case, where it paid flight attendants at their Flight Pay rate for some work hours, but nothing for others.

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