IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DEV ANAND OMAN, TODD EICHMANN, MICHAEL LEHR, and ALBERT FLORES, individually, and on behalf of others similarly situated, and on behalf of the general public, SUPREME COURT

Plaintiffs-Appellants-Petitioners,

FILED

v.

NOV 26-2018

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Defendant-Appellee-Respondent.

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF DEFENDANT-APPELLEE-RESPONDENT DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

On Grant of Request to Decide Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548 Ninth Circuit No. 17-15124
The Honorable William H. Orrick, Case No. 15-cv-00131-WHO

I. INTRODUCTION

The fundamental issue before this Court is whether and to what extent California may regulate the employment relationship between an out-of-state employer and an employee who works in California only episodically and for less than one day at a time. Plaintiff-Petitioners ("Plaintiffs") are flight attendants for Defendant-Respondent Delta Air Lines, Inc. ("Delta") who work in multiple jurisdictions every workday and spend the vast majority of their work time in federally-regulated airspace. It is undisputed that Plaintiffs principally work outside of California – approximately 86, 89, 91, and 97 percent of their time, respectively. Nonetheless, they claim California's minimum wage, pay statement, and timing of pay laws apply to them whenever they work in California, however briefly.

The Ninth Circuit has certified three questions to this Court:

- (1) Do California Labor Code sections 204 and 226 apply to wage payments and wage statements provided by an out-of-state employer to an employee who, in the relevant pay period, works in California only episodically and for less than a day at a time?
- (2) Does California minimum wage law apply to all work performed in California for an out-of-state employer by an employee

who works in California only episodically and for less than a day at a time? And

(3) Does the *Armenta v. Osmose, Inc.* (Ct. App. 2005) 37 Cal.Rptr.3d 460/*Gonzalez v. Downtown LA Motors, LP* (Ct. App. 2013) 155 Cal.Rptr.3d 18 bar on averaging wages apply to a pay formula that generally awards credit for all hours on duty, but which, in certain situations resulting in higher pay, does not award credits for all hours on duty?

Although the questions are framed broadly, and are not limited to the airline industry, the interstate nature of Plaintiffs' work should inform and guide the Court's answers. Each question should be answered "No."

Plaintiffs' proposed "any work done in California" standard for triggering California's minimum wage, pay statement, and wage payment laws not only invites a departure from this Court's precedent, *Tidewater Marine West Inc. v. Bradshaw* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 557 and *Sullivan v. Oracle Corp.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1191, but also is unworkable, creates conflicts of laws, and results in an impermissible, extraterritorial application of California law. This is particularly so in

the context of *interstate* workers like Plaintiffs whose work takes them to multiple jurisdictions every workday.

Instead, the Court should reaffirm the job situs test as the standard for determining whether California's laws apply. The job situs test sets forth a clear, simple, fair, and predictable method for determining the applicability of California law. Under this test, if an individual principally or exclusively works for an out-of-state employer in California during the relevant pay period, then California law governs. California law does not apply to employees who work episodically in California, or for less than a day at a time, particularly when the employee is working in other jurisdictions on the same day.

The job situs test also avoids the impracticalities, the conflicts of law, and the impermissible extraterritorial application of California law that would result from Plaintiffs' proposed "any work done in California" approach. Though Plaintiffs claim they only seek California's protections for their ground time worked in California, their legal theory would require Delta to apply California Labor Code sections 204 and 226 to entire pay periods whenever Plaintiffs set foot in California. Inherent in Plaintiffs' theory is that every other state could claim the same entitlement over Plaintiffs' employment – work

for a single second within our borders and our wage-and-hour laws apply to you. Nothing suggests that California intended to or could apply its wage-and-hour laws in such a broad fashion.

Even if California minimum wage law applies to Plaintiffs for any period of time they work within the state, Delta's formula-based compensation system fully complies with California's requirement that Plaintiffs receive the minimum wage rate for all hours worked and does not implicate California's restrictions on averaging. Unlike the employers in Armenta and Gonzalez, Delta does not take wages it agreed to pay Plaintiffs for certain work and use them to satisfy minimum wage obligations for other uncompensated work performed. Rather, Delta fully discloses the guaranteed minimum compensation flight attendants will receive for all work during a Duty Period (the time they are working) before they bid on or work a Duty Period. Delta's system applies four different formulae to determine flight attendant pay for "each Duty Period" and pays flight attendants under the formula that results in the greatest compensation. It is undisputed that the Duty Period encompasses every minute a flight attendant is on duty, including all the time Plaintiffs claim as uncompensated. At a minimum, the Duty Period Credit formula ensures that Plaintiffs have

always been paid *at least \$22.87* for each hour on duty, an amount that far exceeds California's minimum wage. If another formula is used, it is because that formula generates greater compensation for that Duty Period. As a result, "Delta's formulas ensure that Flight Attendants are compensated for *all* time spent on duty" and "expressly consider all hours worked in the first instance." ER 19, 31-32.

Accordingly, Delta's compensation system complies with IWC Wage Order 9's requirement that Delta pay "not less than the applicable minimum wage for all hours worked in the payroll period, whether the remuneration is measured by time, piece, commission or *otherwise*." 8 Cal. Admin. Code §§ 11090(4)(B). With its use of the phrase "otherwise," Wage Order 9 expressly allows employers to pay employees using something other than an hourly system, as long as the employee is paid not less than the applicable minimum wage for all hours worked. Delta's system complies with this requirement.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Delta Provides Interstate and International Air Transportation

Delta is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Atlanta. SER 39.¹ It provides scheduled air transportation services. *Id.* Delta is subject to an array of federal laws and regulations that affect every aspect of its business. SER 98.

Passengers travel through Delta's extensive route network. During the "relevant time period," Delta's route network centered on a system of thirteen domestic and international gateway airports and, along with its affiliates, Delta offered services to 312 destinations located in 54 countries. SER 4, 98. Delta passengers routinely travel through airspace above the United States that is under the exclusive sovereignty of the federal government. 49 U.S.C. §40103(a). The primary responsibilities of flight attendants are to provide passenger service and ensure passenger safety. SER 11-16.

¹ The record is from the federal proceedings. Excerpts of Record, Supplemental Excerpts and Petitioner's Opening Brief are cited as "ER__," "SER__" and "POB___," respectively. Emphasis has been added to quoted material except where indicated.

² The relevant time period for Plaintiffs' minimum wage claim is May 1, 2012 to present; for Plaintiffs' Sections 204 and 226 claims, January 9, 2014 to present.

Plaintiffs contend "[t]he California market is critically important to Delta." POB 11. But Delta's contacts with California are minimal when compared to its overall operations. Delta's U.S.based flight attendants are primarily based at one of Delta's eight domestic hub airports. SER 39 & 665. Between May 2012 and September 2015, Delta had 1,061 to 1,344 flight attendants (5.3% to 6.2% of its U.S.-based flight attendant workforce) based out of Los Angeles International Airport ("LAX") and 241 to 303 flight attendants (1.2% to 1.5%) based out of San Francisco International SER 665. During this time, Delta employed Airport ("SFO"). between 17,719 and 18,687 U.S.-based flight attendants located outside California. ER 1126-27. While these flight attendants occasionally worked flights that arrived at or departed from a California airport, that flight activity is a small portion of their overall work schedules. While Plaintiffs assert that Delta's non-Californiabased, U.S. flight attendants flew more than 24,400 flights into or out of California in April 2015 (POB 11), those same flight attendants worked 299,587 flights that never touched a California airport -92.4% of their flights. ER 1142. Thus, a typical flight attendant worked 17.3 flights that month and touched California on only 1.3 flights.³

B. The Typical Flight Attendant Workday

Flight attendant work schedules consist of Rotations, Duty Periods, and flights. A "Rotation" is a planned sequence of flights that may consist of one or more flights or one or more Duty Periods (*i.e.*, the flight attendant equivalent of a "shift"). SER 286, 302, 441, 451, 461-62 & 581-83. Flight attendants begin their workday (their Duty Period) by reporting to airports at designated report times. SER 184, 450, 465, 473 & 588-89. Duty Periods end fifteen minutes after the "Block In" of the last flight within that Duty Period. SER 184, 224, 461-63 & 600. FAA regulations establish that each Duty Period must include pre-flight meetings, aircraft cabin preparation, passenger

³ Similarly, Delta \$229 million investment in its LAX facilities (POB 11) pales in comparison to Delta's "nearly \$2 billion investment in New York City Airports." ER 1115-16.

⁴ FAA regulations set specific duty limitations and rest requirements that govern the maximum amount of time a flight attendant may work within a Duty Period and the minimum amount of rest a flight attendant is required to take between Duty Periods. 14 C.F.R. § 121.467. The FAA defines Duty Period as the time elapsed between reporting for an assignment and being released from that assignment. *Id.*

boarding, flight time, turn time,⁵ and deplaning of passengers. ER 702-07; SER 303-04 & 470. If deplaning takes more than fifteen minutes, flight attendants notify Delta's Scheduling Department and their Duty Period is extended to account for the additional time spent working. SER 224, 463 & 600.

C. Flight Attendants Shape And Obtain Their Work Schedules Through A Seniority Bid Process And Subsequent Modifications

Flight attendants have considerable influence over their work schedules. Every month, they receive a Bid Packet that lists all available Rotations for their base. SER 215, 304, 442-43 & 621-30. The Bid Packet describes: the number and length of each Duty Period within the Rotations; report times and total scheduled flight times for the flights within the Rotations; and the amount of time the flight attendant can expect to be away from base. SER 304-09, 313-18, 474-77, 480-81, 621-30 & 632-63; ER 1356-65. The Bid Packet

⁵ For Duty Periods comprising multiple flights, there is a time-gap between one flight's arrival and the next flight's departure. This is called "turn time." SER 584-86. During turn time, flight attendants are generally free to do as they wish. SER 576, 601 & 611-12. Nonetheless, turn time is included within the Duty Period and fully compensated. SER 601; 14 C.F.R. § 121.467.

⁶ Flight Time is calculated based on the aircraft's "Block Out" (when it pushes back from the gate) and "Block In" times (when it pulls into the gate). ER 558 & 562; SER 486, 583-84 & 613.

allows each flight attendant to determine the compensation formula that will apply to the work, and calculate the credit value for each. SER 308, 318 & 481-82. The times set out in the Bid Packets also establish the minimum, guaranteed credits the flight attendant will receive. SER 481. Flight attendants are never credited with an amount lower than what the Bid Packet specifies. *Id.* They can, however, earn more in the event of flight delays or other contingencies. *Id.* As a result, before they work a Duty Period, flight attendants know the minimum credit they will receive for all time they are working that day. After reviewing the Bid Packets, flight attendants bid for their preferred Rotations and monthly schedules are generated. SER 443-46.

D. Delta Pays Flight Attendants Pursuant To A Formula-Based Compensation System

All Delta flight attendants are compensated according to Delta's Work Rules. SER 179-80, 216, 301, 439 & 579. Under them, "[e]ach duty period of a rotation pays the greatest of (1) flight time (includes

⁷ Delta applies four formulae to determine the number of credits a flight attendant will receive for each Rotation (*i.e.*, the credit value). See infra, Section III.B. Those credits are multiplied by the flight attendant's Flight Pay Rate to determine the compensation Delta pays. *Id.*

deadhead,⁸ flight time, minutes under, and flight pay for ground time), or (2) a 4:45 minimum duty period credit (MDC), or (3) 1 for 2 duty period credit (DPC). The sum of the duty period credits listed above is then compared to 1 for 3.5 trip credit (TRP), which guarantees at least 1 hour pay for every 3.5 hours away from base. You will be paid the greater of the two values." ER 363 (emphasis added).

For each Duty Period, Delta calculates the total number of credits available under each formula, multiplies them by either the Flight Pay Rate⁹ or a higher rate (if premium pay applies), compares the sums, and pays the flight attendant the greatest amount. SER 217-18, 310, 483-84 & 615. As Lehr testified, he is not aware of any Rotation when the formulae would not have compensated him at least the minimum wage for each hour he worked.¹⁰ SER 160-61; *see also*

⁸ A deadhead flight is a flight segment within a Rotation that transports the flight attendant to/from a flight assignment. ER 560. A dead-heading flight attendant is not part of that flight's working crew. *Id.*

⁹ Delta's formula-based flight attendant compensation policy applies a base rate called the "Flight Pay Rate." The Flight Pay Rate for Plaintiffs Oman ("Oman"), Eichmann ("Eichmann") and Lehr ("Lehr") was \$45.75 per hour as of May 1, 2012, \$47.58 per hour as of July 1, 2012, \$49.96 per hour as of January 1, 2013, \$51.46 per hour as of April 1, 2014. SER 666. For Eichmann and Lehr, the Flight Pay Rate was \$53.52 per hour as of April 1, 2015. *Id.*

¹⁰ Lehr earned over \$95,000 as a flight attendant for Delta in 2014.

Oman v. Delta Air Lines, Inc. (9th Cir. 2018) 889 F.3d 1075, 1078. Moreover, as the district court held, Delta takes account of all hours worked and pays flight attendants for all hours on duty regardless of the formula applied. ER 19.

The formulae are fully disclosed to flight attendants and form the basis for the minimum promised credit amount specified in the Bid Packet. ER 363; SER 308, 318 & 481-82. Even when flights are delayed or rescheduled, flight attendants receive the minimum credit amount promised in the Bid Packet or the highest pay produced by applying the four formulae to the Duty Periods actually worked. SER 217-18, 310, 481-84 & 615. No matter the formula applied, the resulting amount compensates flight attendants for their entire Duty Period.

1. Duty Period Credit (1 for 2) Formula

A Duty Period is the time from a flight attendant's Report Time to his release from duty. There is no dispute that each Duty Period encapsulates all hours each flight attendant works. SER 302, 451 & 582. The Duty Credit Formula credits flight attendants with one hour at their Flight Pay Rate for every two hours on duty. ER 367; SER

487 & 614. This means flight attendants are compensated at a minimum of one-half of their Flight Pay Rate for every hour on duty. 11 ER 367; SER 487 & 614. Because flight attendants are credited with the greatest total value calculated by the four formulae, they will never earn less than the Duty Period Credit formula; it serves as a floor.

2. Flight Pay Formula

The Flight Pay Formula multiplies the flight attendant's Flight Pay Rate by the greater of the scheduled flight time (*i.e.*, what was estimated in the Bid Packet) or the actual flight time. SER 485 & 620. When the formula is applied, the flight attendant receives credits equal to the entire flight time. ER 366.

3. Minimum Duty Period Credit/Duty Period Average Formula

The Duty Period Average guarantees that flight attendants receive an average of at least 4 hours, 45 minutes of credit for each Duty Period within a Rotation. ER 556. As of April 1, 2014, the Minimum Duty Period Credit replaced the Duty Period Average. It

¹¹ As a result, the Duty Period Credit formula guaranteed Plaintiffs a baseline rate of at least \$22.87 for every hour they were considered on duty throughout the relevant time period. SER 666.

awards 4 hours, 45 minutes of credit for each Duty Period within a Rotation. ER 368; SER 613-14 & 616.

4. Trip Credit Formula

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